**RECEIVED**

**Apr 21 2026**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

APPEAL FROM DARLINGTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Paul M. Burch, Circuit Court Judge  
Circuit Court Case No. 2024-CP-16-00922

---

Appellate Case No. 2025-001729

---

Adams Outdoor Advertising Limited Partnership,

Appellant,

v.

West & Joyce, LLC, successor in interest to West Oil Company,

Respondent.

---

**APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF**

---

Jeffrey S. Tibbals (S.C. Bar No. 72628)  
jst@bybeetibbals.com  
Evan P. Williams (S.C. Bar No. 101981)  
ewilliams@bybeetibbals.com  
BYBEE & TIBBALS, LLC  
1100 Queensborough Blvd., Suite 202

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

1. Did the lower court err in holding that West & Joyce could destroy Adams' billboard at issue or convert the billboard for West & Joyce's own use when it did not raise the issue on summary judgment or assert that it took ownership of the billboard?<sup>1</sup>

2. Did the lower court err in distinguishing two parcels subject to the Lease at issue when only one parcel existed at the time of the creation of the Lease in 2009, and said parcel was not subdivided until ten years later?

3. After finding that the contract language was clear and unambiguous, did the lower court err in utilizing parol evidence to interpret the Lease at issue?

4. In interpreting the right of first refusal clause in the Lease, did the lower court err in failing to apply the factors for assessing rights of first refusal set forth in the South Carolina Supreme Court's decision in *Clarke v. Fine Housing, Inc.*, 438 S.C. 174, 882 S.E.2d 763 (2023)?

5. Did the lower court err in holding that the right of first refusal in the Lease did not encumber the entire 2.5-acre parcel, which was the only undivided tract that existed at the time of the Lease?

6. Alternatively, did the lower court err by ignoring the express language of the property description in the Lease, which included part of the store property in the encumbered property?

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Adams and West & Joyce entered into a lease in July 2009 for Adams to operate a billboard on West & Joyce's property, which also provides Adams a right of first refusal to purchase the

---

<sup>1</sup> Herein, "West & Joyce" or "Lessor" refers to Respondent West & Joyce, LLC, successor in interest to West Oil Company. "Adams" or "Lessee" refers to Appellant Adams Outdoor Advertising Limited Partnership.

property. (R. pp. 19-23 (the “Lease”)). A portion of the leased property was subdivided and sold in 2019, but due to the lack of notice required under the Lease, Adams remained unaware until four years after the fact.

Adams initiated this case to enforce West & Joyce’s breach of the Lease and right of first refusal clause therein, filing its Complaint on September 19, 2024, prior to expiration of the Lease term on October 1, 2024. (R. pp. 14-18 (Complaint); R. p. 75 (West & Joyce MSJ Mem. p. 3)). On October 25, 2024, West & Joyce filed its Answer and Counterclaims, alleging the right of first refusal did not burden the subdivided part of the property which was sold, that Adams and its billboard were trespassing on the property, and that Adams should be required to remove the billboard and should be enjoined from trespassing on the property after it removed its billboard. (R. pp. 27-28 (Answer pp. 3-4)).

A week after filing its counterclaims, on November 1, 2024, West & Joyce sent a letter to Adams, alleging for the first time that any attempt to access the property would be considered a trespass, based on Adams not removing its billboard by the date the letter was mailed, November 1, 2024. (R. pp. 105-106). Adams had not received any previous correspondence which set forth a November 1, 2024 deadline to remove its billboard.

Without conducting any discovery or filing any papers beyond its responsive pleading, West & Joyce moved for summary judgment on January 13, 2025. Although Adams filed a motion for summary judgment on its breach of lease claim a few weeks later, only West & Joyce’s motion was heard by the lower court at a February 10, 2025 hearing. Via an order entered April 9, 2025, the lower court dismissed Adams’ Complaint with prejudice, granted summary judgment to West & Joyce on Adams’ breach of lease claim, and awarded West & Joyce the injunctive relief and part

of the declaratory relief requested in its Counterclaims, as well as additional equitable relief not requested in the Counterclaims. (R. pp. 3-10 (April 9, 2025 Order) (the “Order”).

On April 21, 2025, Adams filed a motion to alter or amend the lower court’s order on West & Joyce’s summary judgment motion. (R. pp. 93-94 (Mot. Alter or Amend)). The court held a hearing on the motion on May 12, 2025, and subsequently entered a one-sentence form order on July 31, 2025 denying Adams’ request for reconsideration. (R. pp. 46-53 (May 12, 2025 Hearing Tr.); R. p. 11 (July 31, 2025 Order)). This appeal followed, with the Notice of Appeal timely served and filed on August 28, 2025.

West & Joyce filed a Motion to Dismiss the Appeal on September 25, 2025, alleging purported procedural deficiencies as to issue preservation and timing of this appeal. Adams filed a return opposing the motion on October 21, 2025, and West & Joyce filed a “Corrected Motion to Dismiss Appeal” and a reply in support of the motion on October 24, 2025. The Court denied the motion via its Order entered November 26, 2025.

### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

On or about July 15, 2009, West & Joyce, as Lessor, and Adams, as Lessee, entered into a lease of real property for the purpose of Adams “operating, maintaining, repairing, modifying and reconstructing outdoor advertising structures, together with any advertising, equipment and accessories that lessee may desire to place” on the leased Property, the foregoing being defined as the “Structures.”<sup>2</sup> (R. p. 19 (Lease § 1)). The Lease defines the encumbered “Property” by its address, 105 West Bobo Newsome Highway in Darlington County, South Carolina. (R. p. 19 (Lease § 1)).

---

<sup>2</sup> Adams only operates one of its Structures or “Billboards” on the Property pursuant to the Lease.

At the time the Lease was executed and until a portion of the Property was sold in 2019, the real property located at 105 West Bobo Newsome Highway in Darlington County was a single parcel of land, consisting of approximately 2.5 acres, which only bore one tax map number, 058-00-01-101. (R. p. 70 (Aff. of Glynn F. Willis at ¶ 7); R. p. 36, lines 7-10 (Tr. of Summ. J. Hearing) (West & Joyce’s counsel stating “this property originally was a 2.5 acre tract of property. When we sold the convenience store we sold ... 1.7 acres to Refuel.”)).<sup>3</sup> Prior to the subdivision and sale, the single tract on which the billboard is operated also contained a convenience store and gas station. (West & Joyce Reply Supporting Motion to Dismiss Appeal (“Oct. 24, 2025 Reply”) p. 2 (stating the “store property” was “subsequently sold to Refuel (with the creation at that time of a separate TMS number)[]”)).

The Lease’s initial 5-year term commenced on October 1, 2009 and the Lease was publicly recorded with the Darlington County Clerk of Court on January 22, 2010, in Book 1058, at Page 7711. (R. pp. 19-23 (Lease)); (*compare* R. p. 16 (Complaint ¶ 5) (providing the date, book, and page of recording), *with* R. p. 25 (Answer ¶ 6) (admitting allegations in paragraph 5 of the Complaint)). Pursuant to its provisions, after the initial Lease term, it automatically extends for another 5-year term, and thereafter extends for successive 5-year terms, except that, after the first extension term, either party can terminate by giving notice 90 days in advance of the next extension term. (R. p. 19 (Lease § 2)).

Section 10 of the Lease provides Adams with its right of first refusal to purchase. (R. p. 20 § 10 (the “ROFR”)). The ROFR requires Lessor to: give Lessee notice if the Property is being

---

<sup>3</sup> Adams does not admit, and nothing herein should be construed as an admission, that the purported conveyance from West & Joyce to Refuel in 2019 was valid, as it was carried out in violation of the express provisions of the Lease. (R. p. 20 (Lease § 10); *infra* at pp. 4-5, discussing same; R. p. 68 (Adams’ Mem. in Opp. to West & Joyce’s Mot. for Summ. J. (“MIO MSJ”) p. 4)).

offered for sale and if an acceptable offer to purchase is received; provide Lessee with a 30-day period to exercise its right of first refusal; and advise the third party contract purchaser that Lessee possesses a right of first refusal. (R. p. 20 (Lease § 10)). The ROFR further specifies that “Lessor will ... not accept nor make any offer or counteroffer except in accord with the terms of this Lease Agreement.” (R. p. 20 (Lease § 10)).

On or about October 18, 2023, West & Joyce sent a letter to Adams giving notice of its intention to not renew the Lease when the existing term expired on October 1, 2024. (R. p. 66 (Adams’ MIO MSJ p. 2)).<sup>4</sup> It was during this same time that Adams first learned that West & Joyce had subdivided and sold part of the leased Property to a third party four years prior, in 2019. (R. p. 17 (Complaint ¶ 10)). As West & Joyce does not believe that the ROFR encumbers the portion of the Property sold in 2019, the parties could not resolve the dispute and Adams filed its Complaint on September 19, 2024, serving the same on West & Joyce six days later (R. pp. 14-18 (Complaint); R. p. 24 (Acceptance of Service)). The Complaint was filed and served prior to expiration of the Lease term and before West & Joyce attempted to give any notice of purported trespass by Adams or its Billboard. (R. pp. 105-106).

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

When reviewing a grant of summary judgment, an appellate court applies the same standard of review applied by the trial court under Rule 56(c), SCRC. *See, e.g., Fleming v. Rose*, 350 S.C. 488, 493, 567 S.E.2d 857, 860 (2002).<sup>5</sup> “Summary judgment is appropriate where there is no genuine issue of material fact and it is clear the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.” *Joyner v. Greenville Hotel Assocs., Ltd. P’ship*, 364 S.C. 237, 239-240, 612 S.E.2d

---

<sup>4</sup> A copy of this October 2023 letter was not filed with the lower court, and the record does not reflect whether that letter noticed a deadline to remove the Billboard.

<sup>5</sup> Unless otherwise stated herein, all internal citations are omitted and all emphases are added.

727, 728 (Ct. App. 2005) (citing Rule 56(c), SCRCPP). “[T]he ‘mere scintilla’ standard does not apply under Rule 56(c). Rather, the proper standard is the ‘genuine issue of material fact’ standard set forth in the text of the Rule.” *Kitchen Planners, LLC v. Friedman*, 440 S.C. 456, 463, 892 S.E.2d 297, 301 (2023). “In determining whether a genuine issue of fact exists, the evidence and all reasonable inferences drawn from it must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.” *John Deere Constr. & Forestry Co. v. N. Edisto Logging, Inc.*, 443 S.C. 424, 434, 904 S.E.2d 889, 894-95 (Ct. App. 2024).

### **ARGUMENT**

Despite West & Joyce’s failure to request summary judgment on each of its claims and requested remedies, and the void of evidence for the same, the lower court dismissed Adams’ Complaint with prejudice and granted West & Joyce’s motion for summary judgment as to its counterclaims for damages and injunctive and declaratory relief. (R. pp. 3, 8 (Order pp. 1, 6)). However, likely due to the self-conflicting relief West & Joyce requested and the different claims and requests in West & Joyce’s pleading as compared to its summary judgment motion, the Order is a patchwork of incomplete and unsupported findings, which rules on some but not all of the claims, awards some but not all of the requested relief, and rules on matters that were not placed before the lower court on summary judgment.

The lower court’s errors derive from its failure to apply the principles of contract interpretation established under long standing precedent. In large part, reversal is warranted because the court failed to properly ascertain the intention of the contracting parties at the time of the contract and inserted or substituted its own meaning into the Lease based on events which transpired a decade after its execution. Additionally, its Order failed to properly analyze the validity of the ROFR clause under the framework required by South Carolina common law.

West & Joyce’s counterclaims requested an injunction “mandating that [Adams] remove the Billboard” (R. p. 28 at ¶ 1), and in seeking summary judgment it presented no allegation, let alone evidence, that ownership of the Billboard transferred from Adams to West & Joyce at any point. Yet, the lower court ruled that Adams did not have a right to remove the Billboard and that West & Joyce could destroy the Billboard or convert the same for its own use. (R. p. 8).

The lower court’s orders on appeal should be reversed, such that West & Joyce’s motion for summary judgment is denied, and this matter should be remanded for further proceedings.

**I. WEST & JOYCE’S SUMMARY JUDGMENT FILINGS AND ARGUMENT DID NOT ASSERT THAT IT TOOK OWNERSHIP OF AND CAN DESTROY, OR CONVERT AND USE, THE BILLBOARD.**

While West & Joyce was not entitled to summary judgment on any claim, most egregious may be the lower court’s determination that ownership and control of the Billboard had unknowingly automatically transferred to West & Joyce, without such matters being raised on summary judgment or supported by any evidence.

In pursuing summary judgment, West & Joyce did not contest the fact that Adams owns the Structure and that it is the personal property of Adams, as is explicitly set forth in unambiguous language in the Lease (R. p. 19 (Lease § 4)). West & Joyce never even asserted during summary judgment, let alone proved, that the Structure had been abandoned and came to be owned by West & Joyce, such that it could destroy or even convert the Structure for its own use. As a result, the fact that Adams owns the Billboard was not placed in dispute by West & Joyce when it moved for judgment and the lower court, in ruling on said motion, erred in finding to the contrary.

To prevail on summary judgment, West & Joyce was required to prove that “the [evidence before the court] show[s] that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.” *Kitchen Planners, LLC v. Friedman*, 440 S.C.

456, 459, 892 S.E.2d 297, 299 (2023) (quoting Rule 56(c), SCRCF); *see also id.* at 462, 892 S.E.2d at 301 (“When determining if any triable issues of fact exist, the evidence and all reasonable inferences must be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party.”)).

During the hearing on its motion, ownership of the Billboard was never mentioned nor did West & Joyce claim that it was the owner, and it certainly did not request a ruling that it could destroy or convert the Billboard for its own use. (R. pp. 33-45 (Tr. of Summ. J. Hearing)). West & Joyce’s motion for summary judgment and memorandum of law do not contain the words “abandon” or “destroy,” and absent therein is any statement or request for a finding that it owns the Billboard. And although West & Joyce’s motion asked for permission to remove the Billboard, removal alone allows for the possibility of Adams retrieving the sign and is a much different act than destroying or converting it, which require ownership of and dominion and control over the structure. Signs and sign materials are considered the personal property of the sign company that erected them, and the landowner’s removal of the sign does not create an inference or presumption that the sign company abandoned or is not entitled to retrieve the sign. *See, e.g., Creative Displays, Inc. v. South Carolina Hwy. Dept.*, 272 S.C. 68, 72-73, 75, 248 S.E.2d 916, 917-19 (1978).

Because it did not even ask for a ruling on summary judgment that it owned the Billboard, it was not possible for West & Joyce to meet its burden of proof on the matter, which means the lower court erred in its ruling.

**A. An Allegation in West & Joyce’s Pleading Does Not Entitle It to Summary Judgment.**

In seeking to dismiss the appeal, West & Joyce argued that the issue was properly raised for a summary judgment ruling simply because its Counterclaims contained a single conclusory allegation of abandonment and supposedly raised “residual control” of the Billboard based on the Lease’s termination. (Oct. 24, 2025 Reply pp. 4, 5). However, in the prayer for requested relief

in its counterclaims, **the first remedy requested by West & Joyce is an injunction “mandating that the Plaintiff [Adams] remove the Billboard[,],”** (R. p. 28 at ¶ 1), thereby acknowledging Adams’ ownership of and right to possess and control the Billboard Structure.

Moreover, in moving for summary judgment, West & Joyce cannot simply rely on its pleading and a generic request to prevail on “all claims,” especially when such a request is inherently vague due to its counterclaims seeking conflicting remedies. *See, e.g.*, Rule 56(c), SCRPC (requiring the movant to submit “pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, **and** admissions on file,” to “show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact”); *Hawkins v. City of Greenville*, 358 S.C. 280, 288-89, 594 S.E.2d 557, 561 (Ct. App. 2004) (“Even when there is no dispute as to evidentiary facts, but only as to the conclusions or inferences to be drawn from them, summary judgment should be denied.”). In light of the South Carolina Supreme Court’s recent clarification that the “scintilla of evidence” standard is insufficient to prevail on summary judgment (*Kitchen Planners*, 440 S.C. at 459, 892 S.E.2d at 299), an allegation in a pleading that is denied by the opposing party (and contradicted within the pleading) fails to satisfy the burden of proof, as it cannot even be categorized as evidence.

Perhaps more fatal to West & Joyce’s reliance on its unproven pleading allegations is that its pleading, claiming Adams abandoned the Billboard by not timely removing it, was filed prior to West & Joyce ever giving notice to Adams of such a contention. Before the Lease expired on October 1, 2024, and before it filed its counterclaims (24 days after Lease expiration), West & Joyce never issued notice to Adams that not removing the Billboard during the pending litigation would allegedly create an automatic assumption that ownership transferred to West & Joyce.

A letter dated November 1, 2024 is the first and only communication in the record whereby West & Joyce gave Adams a deadline to remove the Billboard before it would not be allowed to

enter the Property to access or retrieve the same. (R. pp. 105-106).<sup>6</sup> Therein, for the first time, West & Joyce demanded that Adams remove the Billboard by November 1, 2024. (R. p. 105). Yet, the letter was sent to Adams “via Certified Mail, RRR” (presumably return receipt requested), meaning the November 1, 2024 “notice” of trespass was not delivered until after the alleged November 1, 2024 deadline for removal (R. pp. 105-106).<sup>7</sup>

Thus, West & Joyce waited until 37 days after it was served with the Complaint, and 31 days after the Lease expired, to send its first notice to Adams that an attempt to access or remove the Billboard would be considered a trespass. The certified mail return receipt for said letter is not in the record, but as November 1, 2024 was a Friday, the earliest possible date on which the “notice” could be effective under the Lease was November 4, 2024. (R. p. 20 (Lease § 11)).

However, in its counterclaims, which were filed 10 days earlier on October 25, 2024, West & Joyce alleged that Adams had abandoned the Billboard because it failed to remove the same in response to an unspecified notice, and as a result, Adams was trespassing on the Property. (R. p. 27 (Answer ¶¶ 20-22)). Based on the actual timeline of events, West & Joyce could not have asserted plausible claims for abandonment or trespass at the time of its responsive pleading.

The foregoing analysis assumes, *arguendo*, that a disputed pleading allegation can serve as the only basis for summary judgment. Needless to say, such an assumption is false.

---

<sup>6</sup> Indeed, its October 14, 2024 letter to Adams only stated that West & Joyce would seek to recover breach of contract damages due to Adams not removing the Billboard within six (6) days of the Lease’s expiration. (R. pp. 103-104). This further shows Adams did not receive notice of West & Joyce’s potential equitable claims prior to their filing and proves that West & Joyce did not provide Adams a reasonable amount of time after Lease expiration to remove the Billboard.

<sup>7</sup> Additionally, the Lease states notices given thereunder are not effective until the earlier of the date of receipt of the notice, or the date that is 3 days after mailing. (R. p. 20 (Lease § 11)).

**B. The Lower Court Erred in Ruling on an Issue Not Before It.**

Because West & Joyce did not request summary judgment on whether it owned or could use or destroy Adams' Billboard Structure, the lower court's Order erred in ruling that Adams did not have the right to remove the Billboard and that West & Joyce "has the right to remove and destroy the Billboard *if it elects to do so*;" which in turn grants West & Joyce the right to convert the Structure for its own use. (R. p. 8 at ¶¶ 2, 4).

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