THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Apr 08 2026

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Darlington County  
Court of Common Pleas  
Civil Action No. 2024-CP-16-00923

The Honorable Paul M. Burch, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate No. 2025-001729

Adams Outdoor Advertising Limited Partnership.....Appellant,

v.

West & Joyce, LLC, successor in interest to West Oil Company.....Respondent.

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT WEST & JOYCE, LLC,  
SUCCESSOR IN INTEREST TO WEST OIL COMPANY**

Florence, South Carolina

TURNER, PADGET, GRAHAM & LANFY, P.A.

April 8, 2026

J. René Josey, Esq. (S.C. Bar# 3230)  
Jeffrey L. Payne, Esq. (S.C. Bar #15136)  
1831 W. Evans Street, Fourth Floor

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

Related to West alternative argument of possible ambiguity, Adams now suggest the trial court erred in using parol evidence to interpret the parties written lease. Appellant's Brief, p. 1 (Issue Presented No.3) and pp. 16-19. Here, the trial court expressly found that "the Lease is clear." R. p. 7 (Order, p.5). The Order further added "it is clear that [West] only leased the Billboard Property to [Adams]. As stated in the Lease, Plaintiff was leased a portion of Property on the west end of the "store property." Parol evidence is not prohibited entirely --- rather, it is prohibited from use to *vary or contradict or alter or change* the terms of a clear unambiguous contract.<sup>19</sup>

There is nothing in the Order suggesting that the trial court *varied or contradicted or altered or changed* the terms of the written lease in reliance upon parol evidence. The affidavits of each party provided background and context to the parties' written lease. While the trial court noted the submission of aerial overlays and later administrative tax number assignments, the trial court did not point to any reliance upon those overlays in interpreting the lease. *Moreover, the Appellant interposed no contemporaneous objections to the submission of this evidence.*

The trial court also did not rely upon the convenience store sale price in interpreting the lease although the seasoned judge gratuitously observed the logical consistency of the lease's limited scope with that price.<sup>20</sup> Again, the non-lease evidence submitted and considered by the Court was without objection, and provided context and background.

---

<sup>19</sup> "Under the parol evidence rule, extrinsic evidence is inadmissible to vary or contradict the terms of a contract. 'However, if a contract is ambiguous, parol evidence is admissible to ascertain the true meaning and intent of the parties.'" HK New Plan Exch. Prop. Owner I, LLC v. Coker, 375 S.C. 18, 23-24, 649 S.E.2d 181, 184 (Ct. App. 2007) (citation omitted) (*quoting Koontz v. Thomas*, 333 S.C. 702, 709, 511 S.E.2d 407, 411 (Ct. App. 1999).

<sup>20</sup> The trial court noted that the clear meaning of that lease (circumscribing a portion of the whole realty) was consistent with the economic logic of the subsequent convenience store sale ("It defies logic that [Adams], who leased only a Billboard and a small parcel of land for \$500.00 per year, should have a right of first refusal in an adjacent property and a business worth over eight million

Similar to the ambiguity argument, West also argued in the alternative that any ROFR applicable to the convenience store would be an unlawful restraint on alienation.<sup>21</sup> The Trial Court's well-supported ruling made it unnecessary to address the alternative theories argued below.<sup>22</sup>

---

dollars.”). R.p. 7 (Order, p. 5). Tellingly, Adams made no proffer to the trial court of its willingness to match the convenience store's sales price; of course, this lack of proffer was consistent with its pleaded action at-law seeking breach damages.

<sup>21</sup> A considerable portion of Appellant's Brief is addressed to the application of the Clarke v Fine Housing, Inc., 438 S.C. 174, 882 S.E.2d 763 (2023), decision to the validity or enforceability of the asserted rights of first refusal. Appellant suggests that the trial court “failed to properly analyze the validity of the ROFR clause” -- but the trial court here didn't find the ROFR clause *invalid*— it found it *not applicable* to that portion of the property *not covered by the lease* – the convenience store. The trial court found the asserted rights not applicable based upon the lease itself and its scope of leased property. Thus, the Court did not need to address the Clarke issue. Again, the trial judge's seasoned decision is well-supported in the record.

<sup>22</sup> Because of the clarity and support for the trial court's decision, the Respondent will not burden this Court with a complete briefing of these alternatives. Nevertheless, as this Court knows, Rule 220(c) provides that this court may affirm the trial court's decisions “upon any ground(s) appearing in the Record on Appeal.” Accordingly, a respondent may raise additional reasons for affirmance – even if not raised by the respondent below or if different from grounds raised by respondent below. I'on, LLC v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 526 S.E.2d 716 (2000). Ferguson v. Charleston Lincoln/Mercury, Inc., 344 S.C. 502, 544 S.E.2d 285 (Ct. App. 2001), *aff'd as modified*, 349 S.C. 558, 564 S.E.2d 94 (2002).

**II. IF THE ISSUE IS PRESERVED FOR APPELLATE REVIEW, THE APPELLANT HAD NO LEGAL RIGHT TO REMOVE THE LESSOR'S PRE-EXISTING BILLBOARD STRUCTURE BECAUSE THE PRE-EXISTING STRUCTURE WAS NOT PROTECTED BY THE APPELLANT'S LEASE LANGUAGE.**

Appellant's Rule 59(e) Motion raised, *for the first time*, the Appellant's claim to ownership of the billboard structure located on the Respondent's real property. Indeed, this is the *only* issue raised in Appellant's post-judgment motion. As West has suggested, Appellant Adams knowingly abandoned (or waived) (or did not preserve) any claim to billboard structure ownership by choosing to only pursue a remedy at-law of damages for the alleged violation of its right of first refusal.<sup>23</sup> Clearly, having received notice of the lease non-renewal in 2024, a disappointed and litigious Adams placed all its eggs in the ROFR-breach theory. As trial counsel for Respondent stated at the Rule 59(e) Motion, Adams "took a chance ... to leave [the Billboard] up and go with the argument that they had a right to buy this land." R. p. 50 lines 15-18.<sup>24</sup>

A party may not raise an issue for the first time in post-trial motions; *such an issue is not preserved*. Kiawah Property v. Public Service, 359 S.C. 105, 597 S.E.2d 145 (S.C. 2004); Peterson v. Porter, 389 S.C. 148, 152, 697 S.E.2d 656, 658 (Ct. App. 2010) (holding appellant failed to preserve issue for review where appellants raised the employer-employee argument in his motion to reconsider but failed to raise it during the summary judgment proceedings); Commercial Credit

---

<sup>23</sup> As further argued below, the Appellant's Rule 59(e) Motion improperly and belatedly raised the new claim of structure ownership. For this reason, even if tolling is allowed on the issue of ROFR applicability, the structure ownership issue was not properly presented and preserved in the trial court and should not be considered now. Respondent raises the preservation issue again to avoid any presumption of preservation (by Appellant) – or waiver (by Respondent). McCormick v. England, 328 S.C.627, 494 S.E.2d 431 (Ct. App. 1997).

<sup>24</sup> By its own admission, Adams had almost a year's notice of the lease's non-renewal. Although denying the lease termination because of its erroneous claimed path to a litigated property interest, Adams has not disputed reasonable notice of the non-renewal. Moreover, in response to West summary judgment motion on all claims, including the West counterclaims, Adams did not seek to delay the hearing, did not make a proffer of the convenience store purchase price, and did not seek to amend its Complaint to seek additional relief perhaps including purchaser Refuel.

Loans, Inc. v. Riddle, 334 S.C. 176, 186, 512 S.E.2d 123, 129 (Ct. App. 1999); Patterson v. Reid, 318 S.C. 183, 456 S.E.2d 436 (Ct.App.1995) (a party may not raise an issue in a motion to reconsider, alter or amend a judgment that could have been presented prior to the judgment); *see also* McGee v. Bruce Hosp. Sys., 321 S.C. 340, 468 S.E.2d 633 (1996) (a party may not raise an issue for the first time in a motion for a new trial).

Erroneously emphasizing Wests initial gratuitous structure removal offers/requests,<sup>25</sup> Adams Brief now fails to address the actual facts in the record demonstrative of continuous lessor ownership of the billboard structure; instead, Adams argues against a non-existent “subliminal determination” by the lower court that ownership “transferred back” to lessor “automatically” with the lease termination. (Appellant’s Brief, page 15). That is not what happened and that is not the lower court’s holding.

The Court did conclude that the billboard structure was owned by and controlled by the lessor – but *not* as the result of any unknown or automatic transfer from the lessee. Indeed, the *only* evidence in the record is that the lessor *always owned* this pre-existing structure; there is *no* evidence that ownership of the structure was ever vested with the lessee. Nevertheless, Adams Brief (pages 6 - 7) suggests that the trial court erroneously found that ownership of the pre-existing billboard structure had “transferred” from the lessor West to the lessee Adams.

---

<sup>25</sup> As noted above, and repeatedly noted by Appellant’s Brief (pages 2, 6, 8, 10, 13, 14), West originally *requested*, and *was desirous of*, and *even legally pleaded for*, Adams removal of the billboard structure at the end of the lease. Respondent was not focused on West true ownership of the billboard structure and was otherwise initially willing to allow the removal of that structure at Appellant’s cost if the Appellant’s damage claim was defeated or abandoned. Of course, previous unaccepted offers to allow Plaintiff to remove the structure, arguably within the context of Rule of Evidence 408, does not alter the factual record of continuous landlord ownership of the pre-existing billboard structure.

In support of its claim of ownership, Adams first points to section 4 of the lease. While this section of the lease (§ 4) does provide that the lessee would own any structures “erected *by or for the lessee*” (emphasis added), R. p. 19, the only evidence in the record is that *this billboard structure pre-existed the lease* as recognized in the lease property description and evidenced by the lessor’s affidavit. There is *no* evidence that the structure was *erected by Adams* or *erected for Adams*; the *only* evidence is that it was already erected upon West real property.

It is disingenuous, therefore, for Appellant to argue that the burden was on the one and only true owner (West) to challenge the lessee’s un-pleaded and belatedly asserted claim to structure ownership. If West presented “no allegation, let alone evidence” (Adams Brief, bottom p.6) that West *reacquired* ownership in the billboard structure, it is because the only evidence in the record is that ownership never left from West! West has no burden to prove a reacquisition when that reacquisition was never needed.

Also disingenuous, footnote 9 of Appellant’s Brief suggest that Adams Outdoor is somehow the successor-in-interest to West or some other benefactor who erected the sign before the 2009 lease *for Adams*.<sup>26</sup> There is no evidence in the record that Adams acquired an assignment of a pre-existing leasehold or had someone erect the billboard *for Adams*. To the contrary, the lease express declaration of a pre-existing structure (checked box in Section 1), and the affidavits of both parties speak of a new lease and negotiations in 2009 for a location with an existing billboard owned by the lessor West. *See also* R. p.19, (lease representation of ownership, §5, accepted by both parties).

Appellants reliance upon Creative Displays, Inc. v. South Carolina Hwy. Dept., 272 SC 68, 248 S.E.2d 916 (1978) to support its claim of structure ownership is also misplaced. Like here, a

---

<sup>26</sup> In contrast, the affidavit of Appellant’s real estate manager appropriately recognizes West & Joyce LLC as a successor in interest to West Oil Company. R.p. 69 ¶3.

written lease was in place and the written lease protected the structure ownership by an *erecting lessee* and their successors in interest. But, unlike here, the real property owner/lessor was not involved and had no structure prior to the creation of the lease. Also, unlike here, there *were* successive *lessees* under the lease. Creative Displays had succeeded to Miller Outdoor Advertising, Inc. While the Court in Create Displays did confirm that sign structures are removable personal property as a matter of law (therefore not subject to condemnation damages under the Federal Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Act), that holding is of no consequence in this factually distinguishable situation.

### III. THE APPELLANT’S APPEAL IS UNTIMELY.

The trial court’s order of summary judgment was entered on April 9, 2025. Appellant’s Rule 59(e) Motion to Alter or Amend the Judgment was filed on April 21, 2025. It remains the Respondent’s position that the Rule 59(e) Motion was improper and did not toll the time to appeal the April 2025 Order of Summary Judgment.<sup>27</sup>

Last year, our Supreme Court made it clear that its decision in Swing v. Swing, 445 S.C. 340, 914 S.E.2d 158 (2025) (a domestic relations case) to toll the appellate deadline did “not mean, of course, that all timely Rule 59(e) motions will stay the Rule 203(b)(1) deadline for appeal.”<sup>28</sup>

---

<sup>27</sup> *Even if tolling is allowed*, the Respondent suggests that tolling only be allowed for those issues raised by Appellant prior to its Rule 59(e) motion – mainly, its theory seeking damages for an alleged breach of the right of first refusal to purchase the combined billboard and convenience store properties which is addressed in Argument I herein. *Even if tolling is allowed*, the ownership asserted by Appellant in its Rule 59(e) motion should be treated as unpreserved.

<sup>28</sup> As Justice Few noted in his opinion, Swing involved interconnected issues of family court, where the appeal was not filed by the Rule 59(e) movant, where the 59(e) motion was not a successive Rule 59(e) motion, and the filed 59(e) motion was unlike previous motions. Most importantly, Swing did *not* involve an attempt to raise new issues for the first time after summary judgment as is the case here.

Referencing the "limits and rationale" of Coward Hund Construction Co. v. Ball Corp., 336 S.C. 1, 518 S.E.2d 56 (Ct. App. 1999) and Quality Trailer Products, Inc. v. CSL Equipment Co., 349 S.C. 216, 562 S.E.2d 615 (2002), each of which found an exception to the appellate deadline stay created by Rule 59(e), the Court did "not foreclose the possibility that another scenario may arise justifying a third exception...."<sup>29</sup> Respondent suggests that a Rule 59(e) raising an unpreserved issue for the first time is precisely the type of scenario which should *not* stay the time to appeal otherwise ripened issues from the Court's initial ruling.

Specifically, the equities here cut in favor of a third exception and a declaration of an untimely appeal. Adams chose not to pursue ownership remedies (specific performance, quiet title, *inter alia*) in its Complaint. Rather, Adams chose to argue solely for a ROFR to combined properties and sought only damages related thereto, and Adams filed nothing in response to the assertion that the lease had terminated and the pre-existing billboard structure had been abandoned. Moreover, the issue actually raised and preserved by Adams – its claim of breach related to an alleged ROFR to the combined properties *was ripe* for appeal without filing the Rule 59(e) motion which only raised new issues. Raising new issues by Rule 59(e) thwarts judicial economy and delays the appellate process for ripe matters.

The time for appeal from the April 9, 2025 Summary Judgment Order was 30 days under SCACR 203(b)(1) which would have run on Friday, May 9, 2025. This appeal was filed with the appellate court on August 28, 2025. Accordingly, because Appellant chose to only address the theory of breach of lease in its argument and presentation to the trial court, it needed to appeal that ruled-upon theory by May 9, 2025 – and raising an unpreserved issue for the first time by Rule

---

<sup>29</sup> Coward Hund involved a second successive written 59(e) Motion whilst Quality Trailer involved a first written 59(e) motion duplicative of a previous written JNOV/new trial motion.